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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Good

          3  afternoon. I am Karen Koslowitz, the Chair of the

          4  Council's Committee on Consumer Affairs. Today the

          5  Consumer Affairs Committee will hold its first

          6  hearing on Intro. 480, which would strengthen the

          7  City's regulations on the sale and possession of toy

          8  guns.

          9                 Sadly, we are all familiar with the

         10  recent tragedy this past summer of a 16-year-old

         11  Brooklyn boy carrying a realistic looking toy gun

         12  being shot by police who thought it was a real gun.

         13                 This isn't the first tragedy. In

         14  1994, one of our City's children was killed in a

         15  similar incident. There are guns being sold in this

         16  City that look real, some do not comply with current

         17  law, others comply with certain aspects of laws, but

         18  they are dark in color and their bright orange plugs

         19  required by federal law can be easily removed. Thus,

         20  to a police officer at night or in bad lighting,

         21  even these supposed toys can look real and

         22  threatening.

         23                 As a mother and grandmother, I would

         24  rather children played with toys that had nothing to

         25  do with shooting or violence, but I understand that
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          2  kids are kids, not to every parent, not every parent

          3  feels the same way, and watergun fights by the pool

          4  can be fun at any age.

          5                 However, we have an obligation to do

          6  everything we can to minimize the danger to our

          7  children and prevent the stakes on the part of those

          8  who defend and protect us.

          9                 This is especially true in a City as

         10  crowded as New York and in a society that has not

         11  yet come to terms with the need to control real

         12  guns.

         13                 This local law would require that to

         14  be legal in the City toy guns would have to be

         15  colored in bright colors, such as pink, bright green

         16  or bright yellow. It would also make clear that the

         17  City's law apply to all imitation or toy guns, not

         18  just pistols and revolvers.

         19                 Finally, it would add a civil penalty

         20  of up to $1,000 to the existing criminal penalty.

         21                 I would like to thank the Manhattan

         22  Borough President, at whose request I introduced

         23  this legislation. I would also like to thank Council

         24  Member Ken Fisher, Chair of the Youth Services

         25  Committee, and Council Member Robinson, Chair of the
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          2  Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice, who have worked

          3  with me on this issue for the past several months.

          4                 I would like to now turn this over to

          5  Council Member Fisher and then Council Member

          6  Robinson for any comments they may have.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you very

          8  much, Madame Chair. Thank you for promptly

          9  scheduling this hearing with your interest in the

         10  issue.

         11                 I think there is a lesson to be

         12  learned in the actions that we took on the laser

         13  pointers just a few weeks ago. At that time the

         14  Council said that it wanted to act to prevent a

         15  tragedy from occurring and in fact after the bill

         16  was signed by the mayor but before its effective

         17  date there was a tragic incident in Brooklyn where

         18  an altercation that was precipitated by dotting by a

         19  young person wound up in the murder of the young

         20  person's father on Christmas Eve, you can be

         21  assured, Council members, that had we not acted in

         22  the manner in which we did, that criticism would

         23  have been rife the next day, why hadn't we acted to

         24  protect people in these situations, and that

         25  criticism would have been well placed.
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          2                 Here the evidence produced by our

          3  staff and by the Borough President of Manhattan,

          4  Council Member Robinson's investigation and yours,

          5  shows that we have another situation where a tragedy

          6  is likely to occur unless we take swift action, and

          7  I think that we don't get the same accolades for

          8  preventing a problem as you do criticism for failing

          9  to act, but nonetheless, I think the children of

         10  young people of New York City will be better off

         11  when this legislation is passed, and I wanted to

         12  thank you for your leadership on the issue.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         14  Robinson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         16  very much, Chairwoman Koslowitz, and to the members.

         17  I am glad this action is being taken at this hearing

         18  today, to call attention to guns that replicate real

         19  weapons and have as a result taken a life and almost

         20  took a life of another young man from my district,

         21  certainly this is well placed, and Council Member

         22  Fisher has already spoken in regards to how we have

         23  recently taken a position with laser pointers, as

         24  well, we are attempting as a legislative body to

         25  look at those issues that we feel that directly
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          2  affect the quality of life, really affect the

          3  quality of life of our young people. And so we are

          4  grateful that Council Member Koslowitz has scheduled

          5  this hearing and we look forward to taking whatever

          6  action is necessary to be sure that not another life

          7  is lost as a result of a toy gun looking like a real

          8  weapon.

          9                 So, thank you very much, Council

         10  Member.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         12                 I also would like to recognize the

         13  other Council Members. We have Council Member Henry,

         14  Council Member Sabini, Council Member Lasher, and

         15  Council Member Fiala.

         16                 With that, I would like to call the

         17  Commissioner to please come up, Jules Polonetsky, to

         18  testify.

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Good

         20  afternoon, Chairwoman Koslowitz, members of the

         21  Committee. Thank you for the opportunity to discuss

         22  Intro. 480, a bill that places further restrictions

         23  on the sale of toy guns in New York City.

         24                 Let me open by mentioning that the

         25  Department of Consumer Affairs, with the authority
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          2  that you have granted us, plays a significant role

          3  in preventing the illegal sale of dangerous items to

          4  minors, ranging from the sale of toy guns to the

          5  sale of tobacco products to box-cutters, and as a

          6  result of the recent legislation passed by the

          7  Council and signed by the Mayor, items such as laser

          8  pointers, and so we look forward to continuing to

          9  work with you on this specific piece of legislation,

         10  as well as on the tobacco legislation that I know

         11  has been of interest to the Committee, as well as

         12  many of the other issues of protecting our children.

         13  It is one of the areas of enforcement that the

         14  Department takes quite seriously and it is one where

         15  we are well suited because of our day-to-day

         16  interactions with the retail audience to play an

         17  important role in enforcing this. We share our

         18  jurisdiction here, as you know, with the Police

         19  Department, who in addition to our deceptive trade

         20  practice enforcement, to out and make arrests and

         21  issue criminal violations.

         22                 Let me begin by saying that the

         23  Department supports the goal of Intro. 480, which is

         24  to protect New Yorkers by further limiting the

         25  possibility of a toy gun being mistaken for a real
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          2  gun.

          3                 We believe some additional steps can

          4  and should be taken to ensure that we meet this

          5  objective.

          6                 Before I talk about some of the

          7  specific suggestions for Intro. 480, I would like to

          8  give you a bit of background on the City's recent

          9  efforts to combat the sale of these illegal toy

         10  guns.

         11                 Under the current law, both the

         12  Department of Consumer Affairs and the NYPD has been

         13  targeting merchants who sell realistic looking toy

         14  guns. Since August the Department of Consumer

         15  Affairs has conducted four special initiatives

         16  targeting the sale of illegal toy guns.

         17                 During those initiatives we issued a

         18  total of 220 violations to 23 stores.

         19                 In addition, last year, the Police

         20  Department arrested and issued summonses to a total

         21  of 151 people for violating the City law. We

         22  appreciate some of the complaints that have been

         23  forwarded to the agency by members of the Council,

         24  and as well by Borough President Fields, who in a

         25  recent survey pointed out to us a number of stores
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          2  that were selling and we issued fines and violations

          3  to quite a few of those that she and her staff had

          4  pointed out to us.

          5                 During our investigations, we found

          6  that a large number of black toy guns that look just

          7  like real guns are being sold. The only difference

          8  is that these guns have a small orange cap on the

          9  end, such as this.

         10                 Although these types of guns are

         11  currently illegal under the current law in New York

         12  City, they continue to be sold and manufactured and

         13  distributed because they do comply with the federal

         14  law which regulate the sale of toy guns.

         15                 Section 10-131 of the City

         16  Administrative Code prohibits currently toy guns

         17  that are black, blue, silver, or aluminum. It also

         18  requires that toy guns of any other color have a

         19  sealed barrel.

         20                 On the other hand, chapter 76 of

         21  Title 15 of the United States Code permits the sale

         22  of black, blue, silver or aluminum guns if they have

         23  a small orange plug inserted in the tip of the

         24  barrel, or a plug that seals the end such as an item

         25  like this.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 As a result, many of the

          3  manufacturers, both abroad, as well as throughout

          4  the country, continue to manufacture guns using what

          5  they view as the federal legislation as they

          6  standard, these guns then end up in the marketplace

          7  in New York City because they are being illegally

          8  sold in other locations in the country and end up

          9  putting our children at serious risk.

         10                 As long as these guns are legal in

         11  other parts of the nation, manufacturers and

         12  distributors throughout the country and abroad are

         13  likely to continue marketing them. Some of these

         14  guns will continue to find their way to New York

         15  City. To combat this problem we support federal

         16  legislation which would require the entire nation to

         17  conform to the strict standards that we have said in

         18  New York City and hopefully are continuing to

         19  strengthen by this hearing and this legislation.

         20                 In addition, there are some

         21  differences between the City law and New York State

         22  law. Section 871 of the general business law

         23  prohibits black, blue, silver or aluminum toy guns

         24  and requires toy guns of any other color to have a

         25  non-removable orange stripe one inch in width,
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          2  running the entire length of the barrel on each side

          3  and the front of the barrel. We have yet to find a

          4  gun that has been sold that actually complies with

          5  the state law, theoretically those would still be

          6  legal in New York City, since they are the realistic

          7  colors that are currently banned or under the

          8  proposed legislation aren't of the colors that we

          9  would specifically require any gun sold to be, but

         10  such is the case right now.

         11                 New York City law does not require

         12  that stripe. A toy gun, therefore, might conform to

         13  City law, while violating state law. Another example

         14  why perhaps New York City standard really should be

         15  the model for much of the country.

         16                 The Department agrees that until a

         17  stronger federal law can be implemented there are

         18  steps that can and should be taken to improve the

         19  existing City law. That is what Intro. 480 begins to

         20  do.

         21                 We believe that Intro. 480 as it is

         22  currently written falls short in some specific areas

         23  and that there are several changes that could be

         24  made to the Intro that would make it more effective

         25  and I think do more of what the Council intends.
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          2                 First of all, toy guns with laser

          3  pointers should be banned in New York City. As you

          4  know, the laser pointers we have seen proliferating

          5  throughout the City intended originally to be used

          6  for instructional purposes, have been posing a

          7  variety of dangers that they are misused by children

          8  who dot law enforcement officers or who shine them

          9  at their playmates.

         10                 The Mayor recently signed into law a

         11  bill, together with the Council, which bars the sale

         12  of laser pointers to anyone under the age of 19. The

         13  law also of course prohibits anybody from using a

         14  laser pointer in a public place or shining a laser

         15  pointer directly at a uniformed City employee.

         16                 We now need to go one step further

         17  and ban the installation of these laser pointers on

         18  toy guns. We have heard reports already of those

         19  being used by children, and I think you will agree

         20  that the dangers proposed by such a device are

         21  significant.

         22                 In addition, to ensure that the

         23  proposed law can be properly enforced, Intro. 480

         24  should specifically give the Department of Consumer

         25  Affairs, both enforcement and hearing authority.
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          2                 Currently the way the Department,

          3  because of our interest in being able to play an

          4  enforcement role in this area issues violations, as

          5  we do so based on the authority granted to us by the

          6  Consumer Protection Law. We write violations of the

          7  CPL based on the civil and state, the City and state

          8  laws that bar the sale of those items and so

          9  therefore we end up considering it unconscionable

         10  trade practice.

         11                 However, since we write them as CPL

         12  violations, without hearing authority, we currently,

         13  or under 480 as it is, actually if a merchant

         14  refused to pay the fine, we usually have to go to

         15  court and make a case to sue them to carry out our

         16  enforcement and order them to no longer continue

         17  selling or to collect our fine if they simply refuse

         18  to pay.

         19                 If the Department has hearing

         20  authority in this area, and is able to get a

         21  decision before one of our administrative law

         22  judges, that decision is honored by the civil court

         23  and so our attorneys can simply present the decision

         24  and ask for an order enforcing the decision which

         25  the courts usually give great leeway to deferring to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  the decisions of Administrative Law Judges, and so

          3  we suggest that an additional way to ensure that the

          4  Department of Consumer Affairs has very direct and

          5  significant enforcement authority in this area is to

          6  include that sort of hearing authority in the

          7  proposal.

          8                 One last issue that I think I should

          9  raise about Intro. 480: Currently the barrels of all

         10  toy guns need to be plugged with the same material

         11  of which the toy or imitation pistol or revolver is

         12  made for distance of not less than one-half from the

         13  front end of said barrel.

         14                 The law, as well as Intro. 480, make

         15  water guns and paint pellet guns illegal in New York

         16  City. I think that goes a bit beyond what was

         17  intended, and is a problem that can be fixed by

         18  Intro. 480 so that we don't completely ban the sale

         19  of those items without intending to.

         20                 I look forward to working with you in

         21  drafting an effective and worthwhile bill, which

         22  will help protect New Yorkers, until we reach the

         23  ultimate goal of a stricter federal law.

         24                 That is the end of my prepared

         25  statement, I would be happy to answer any questions
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          2  that you might have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

          4  Fisher.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Commissioner, is New York City

          8  preempted by either state or federal law from

          9  regulating in this area?

         10                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: No, there is

         11  a Court of Appeals case that upheld the localities'

         12  ability under its police powers, as long as our

         13  restrictions are not inconsistent, inconsistent

         14  meaning not that we can't be stricter, but

         15  inconsistent meaning that we don't create a

         16  situation where a merchant who complied with City

         17  law wouldn't comply with federal law, under the

         18  current City law, as well as Intro. 480, a merchant

         19  who complied with the more stringent City law would

         20  be manufacturing a gun that could be sold under

         21  federal law elsewhere in the country, and so the

         22  courts have upheld our enforcement authority, as

         23  well as the localities' ability to enforce that, and

         24  so that is why we support this legislation, and we

         25  hope that the federal government, as well as perhaps
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          2  some further work that we can do on a federal

          3  proposal, take a look at what we are doing as a

          4  model for the rest of the country.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: And section

          6  871 of the general business law, that is currently

          7  in effect in New York City; is that correct?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The City

          9  code law or the state one?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: The state one.

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That

         12  currently applies to New York City as well. And in

         13  fact, when we cite, when we issue our citations, we

         14  often will cite the state law as well because the

         15  merchants who are selling it are in violation of the

         16  state law in addition.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: And the State

         18  law is more stringent than the City law, because it

         19  prohibits according to your testimony black, blue,

         20  silver or aluminum toy guns, as well as requiring

         21  guns of other colors to have the non-removable

         22  orange strip down the entire length.

         23                 So, in other words, every one of

         24  those guns on the board next to you would currently

         25  be illegal in New York City under state law; is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: They would

          4  be illegal under both New York City and New York

          5  State law. They would be illegal under New York City

          6  law because we don't allow the sale of any guns that

          7  are black, or any of the realistic colors at all.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Right.

          9                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: And they

         10  would be illegal further under state law because

         11  state law specifically requires a line down the

         12  side, an orange stripe all the way down the barrel,

         13  not at the tip.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: I am a little

         15  bit confused about your testimony with respect to

         16  the laser pointer question because my recollection

         17  of how we did the definitions of laser emitting

         18  devices didn't exclude toy guns.

         19                 In other words, if a laser pointer is

         20  prohibited for possession, for a sale to a minor

         21  under our new law, as a free-standing device, why

         22  would it not also be prohibited if it was part of a

         23  toy gun?

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The bill

         25  that we passed with your involvement and the Mayor
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          2  signed, specifically deals with sales to minors. We

          3  don't bar the sale of laser pointers or laser

          4  pointer tipped guns generally.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Let me

          6  understand, the point of your testimony then was

          7  that a laser pointer which might lawfully be

          8  possessed by an adult, it is aimed at adults. In

          9  other words, putting a laser pointer on a toy gun

         10  should be prohibited for adults, not just for

         11  minors.

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Similar to

         13  the sale of these items which are prohibited to

         14  anybody, whether it is an adult of a child, you

         15  can't sell it whatsoever.

         16                 Right now legally one could sell a

         17  laser pointer attached to a gun, as long as it was

         18  locked up and wasn't sold to a minor and it was sold

         19  to an adult.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: And then just

         21  two last questions, very quickly.

         22                 Could you elaborate on the difference

         23  procedurally between suing -- if a merchant refuses

         24  to pay the fine we could sue them in the civil

         25  court; however, if you were given authority, a
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          2  different kind of authority, you could obtain an

          3  order to comply from a civil court judge. So, what

          4  is the difference between suing under the first

          5  scenario and getting an order under the second

          6  scenario?

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The courts

          8  are fairly good at recognizing that the decisions of

          9  an administrative law judge, unless there is some

         10  significant error that they see, are usually to be

         11  deferred to, and so when the agency has been able to

         12  have a hearing, hear testimony and our

         13  Administrative Law Judge determines that under their

         14  expertise there has been a violation of the New York

         15  City Administration Code, that decision only needs

         16  to be enforced with a very minimal court action, ask

         17  for a court order based on our, ALJ's decision or

         18  ask about our fine be enforced.

         19                 If we don't have an administrative

         20  court decision to point to, the agency actually

         21  needs to commence a suit alleging in civil court

         22  that there is a violation and we have got to present

         23  testimony and evidence and actually have a court

         24  proceeding, as opposed to having a court defer to an

         25  administrative proceeding. So, it is a much simpler
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          2  area, and we have found that in other areas of

          3  enforcement, when we do have a decision from an

          4  Administrative Law Judge, we are able to get quick

          5  and easy enforcement. We usually don't even have to

          6  go to court because most of the attorneys on the

          7  other side realize that it is going to be a fairly

          8  perfunctory, unless they want to raise some kind of

          9  constitutional issue or so forth about our

         10  jurisdiction, the judges are unlikely to debate the

         11  expertise of our agency's determination of whether

         12  or not something is a violation of the

         13  Administrative Code.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Okay.

         15                 Then lastly, and with apologies to

         16  the Chair, and thank you for your indulgence, as I

         17  understood your testimony, I guess in the process of

         18  reviewing this, somebody flagged the fact that water

         19  guns might be covered by the existing law, it's not

         20  something that is in this particular bill and it

         21  ought to get fixed. But I wanted to know two things,

         22  one was, has the Department ever issued a violation

         23  to any merchant for selling an unplugged water gun

         24  or paint gun, and the second part of that question

         25  is, I understand the water gun part, but is the
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          2  Administration as a matter of policy saying that the

          3  sale of these paint pellet guns should be permitted

          4  in the City of New York? Or is it just something,

          5  they are both in the same category and we ought to

          6  look at it?

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: A number of

          8  issues. The federal law, although we I think are

          9  fair and relying on the Court of Appeals case, which

         10  makes it clear that the City is not preempted in its

         11  greater restrictions, the federal law does very

         12  specifically actually bar the municipalities or any

         13  jurisdiction from barring the sale of the paint

         14  pellet guns. And so we may be inconsistent -- it may

         15  be argued that our current law or Intro. 480, are

         16  inconsistent with the federal law there and that is

         17  something that we can use this opportunity to

         18  correct.

         19                 The federal law doesn't specifically

         20  address water guns, and I don't believe that we have

         21  ever specifically issued a violation for the sale of

         22  a water gun, but if indeed it hasn't been, if Intro.

         23  480 doesn't intend to bar this, and I don't think

         24  that it has been our intention to bar say the paint

         25  pellet guns that are used in, you know, appropriate
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          2  games and under appropriate lock and key by people

          3  who sell them for that paint gun type use or the

          4  different games that are played with them, and so

          5  this is an opportunity I think to clear up an area

          6  where perhaps we are inconsistent with federal law

          7  and I don't think we particularly intended to bar

          8  the sale of water guns in general.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         12  Sabini.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         14  Madame Chairwoman.

         15                 Commissioner, first of all I just

         16  would like to determine which is the correct number.

         17  The New York Post in August of last year reported

         18  that your agency had said that there were 68

         19  violations to stores since 1994, in your testimony

         20  you cited numbers out of your agency of 220

         21  violations to 23 stores and the PD arrested and

         22  issued summonses to 151 people. Which are the right

         23  numbers?

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: What is the

         25  date of the Post?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: August 28 --

          3  26th, 1998.

          4                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I don't know

          5  which of the sweeps they are including and which

          6  they are not including.

          7                 Since, is it August, I believe --

          8  since August we have gone out on four initiatives.

          9  If the Post numbers are through August, they are

         10  referring to our summary of the agency's action to

         11  that date.

         12                 Since August we have issued an

         13  additional 220 violations, so a grand total of what

         14  we have done since '94 would be a sum of both of

         15  those numbers.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Almost 300

         17  then?

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         20                 Of the almost 300 then, how many of

         21  those violations led to the collection of the

         22  maximum thousand dollar penalty and/or a year in

         23  jail?

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I can't tell

         25  you what the results of the Police Department's
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          2  enforcement --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I am talking

          4  about the ones that you issued, the 300 you issued.

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The ones we

          6  issued don't lead to any time in jail because we

          7  issue just civil violations.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But you can do

          9  the thousand dollar fine?

         10                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That is the

         11  maximum -- I am sorry. We don't actually have the

         12  ability to issue a thousand dollar fine currently.

         13  We have the ability to issue, because the civil

         14  penalty that is currently in the code is under the

         15  criminal side of the coin, so the Police Department

         16  could issue up to the maximum period in jail as well

         17  as the maximum civil penalty.

         18                 The way that the Department has used

         19  its consumer protection law jurisdiction is we

         20  consider the sale of these items which are against

         21  the civil law to be a deceptive trade practice which

         22  the maximum violation is a $350 violation.

         23                 We often will collect more than $350

         24  because we will cite the merchant sometimes per each

         25  gun or per the number of times we can find the CPL
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          2  violation there.

          3                 So, one of the reasons why we would

          4  like it to be a specific thousand dollar consumer

          5  affairs violation is that we could actually write a

          6  thousand dollar violation and collect and insist on

          7  a thousand dollar violation.

          8                 Under current law we kind of use our

          9  deceptive trade practice jurisdiction to enter into

         10  this --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That 350 you

         12  said?

         13                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That's

         14  right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That is under

         16  10-131 of the City Administrative Code; is that

         17  under 871 of the New York State General Business

         18  Law?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I believe

         20  the section you cited is the specific toy gun

         21  legislation. We can't cite them under that because

         22  that is not under --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So that is

         24  totally under the deceptive trade practice.

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That's
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          2  correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Have you found

          4  any manufacturers of these items in the City?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Not that we

          6  have found, no.

          7                 I don't believe the manufacturer,

          8  however, would be barred under the current law even

          9  if they were in the City.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Except that

         11  under the original toy gun legislation it's the sale

         12  and possession, I believe.

         13                 So, if you manufactured them, you

         14  would have a lot of them, I would think.

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: There is a

         16  specific exemption for manufacturer, manufacturing

         17  in the legislation as well, though.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Are these

         19  violations that you cited --

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Let me note

         21  the legislation and the bill continues to say that

         22  the possession or display by a manufacturer or

         23  dealer shall not be a violation if the sale is

         24  accompanied by delivery to a point without the City.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.
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          2                 So, are the violations that you issue

          3  part of the Consumer Protection Law violations

          4  listed in the MMR?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That's

          6  correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Have you ever

          8  thought of breaking that out now and making that a

          9  separate category?

         10                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It is

         11  something we can certainly consider.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         13  Madame Chair. I am going to be going into the

         14  Subcommittee on Permits because we have Land Use

         15  items to vote on, but I will be back.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Robinson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you.

         20                 Commissioner, could you tell me what

         21  boroughs were the majority of these toy weapons

         22  found?

         23                 And perhaps if you have the

         24  information of specific communities that you might

         25  be able to --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, I

          3  don't have before me right now the breakdown of our

          4  earlier sweeps.

          5                 But I do have the breakdown of the

          6  sweep that we did just this past week -- oh, and I

          7  do have the other sweeps.

          8                 The breakdown of the past, the most

          9  recent enforcement actually, I can give you by

         10  location and neighborhood as well. The earlier

         11  sweeps right now I have broken down just by borough.

         12                 The earlier sweeps, there were 17

         13  stores that we looked at in Manhattan, five selling

         14  illegal toy guns, ten that we looked at in the

         15  Bronx, five with illegal toy guns. Staten Island

         16  there were five stores of which one was selling. In

         17  Brooklyn we looked at eight of which two were. In

         18  Queens, 13 and two were.

         19                 The most recent enforcement, the

         20  stores that we cited were several in the Bronx, four

         21  in the Bronx. Kims Bargains, on Burnside Avenue,

         22  East Burnside Avenue. Anams Discount on West

         23  Burnside Avenue. Lee's Gifts on East Tremont and

         24  another location on East Tremont.

         25                 Thirteen locations in Manhattan, two
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          2  upper Broadway, three on West 207th Street, Fourth

          3  Avenue, 125th Street in Harlem, and a grocery store

          4  on Seventh Avenue. Three locations in Queens, two on

          5  Liberty Avenue, one on Northern Boulevard. The

          6  locations in Brooklyn were on Graham Avenue,

          7  Havemeyer Street, South First Street, Fifth Avenue I

          8  believe in Sunset Park, Bayridge, another Fifth

          9  Avenue and 74th, which is Sunset Park, Bayridge, and

         10  a Halloween Adventure, 2655 Richmond Avenue.

         11                 So, I can give you the specific

         12  locations but we have tried to either respond to

         13  specific locations that we were aware of because

         14  Council members or the Borough President passed on

         15  their information, or places that we were able to

         16  just randomly go to.

         17                 We have tried to as well go to new

         18  and additional stores each time so that we are

         19  covering a maximum area. At some point what we will

         20  probably do is go back to some of the stores that we

         21  have cited to ensure that the enforcement actually

         22  results in these stores cleaning up their act

         23  instead of just paying a violation, and we will try

         24  to continue doing that in a real random way.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: My pleasure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

          5  Spigner.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I have no

          7  questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: You have no

          9  questions?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         12  Henry.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Thank you,

         14  Madame Chair.

         15                 If I may just address, just for my

         16  own edification, some information, Madame Chair.

         17                 My question is, given the gravity of

         18  this, you know, what we are discussing this

         19  afternoon, was the Police Commissioner invited to

         20  this hearing?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Yes, he was.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Do you have any

         23  idea as to whether they will be testifying?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I really

         25  don't, but so far they haven't signed in. But they
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          2  were invited.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Because given

          4  the magnitude of this, it is as important to

          5  Consumer Affairs as it is to the Police Department.

          6  I know the Commissioner, Mr. Commissioner, you

          7  allude to the fact I think on the first page that

          8  you have been working along with the New York City

          9  Police Department and you have been actively

         10  targeting merchants, selling realistic looking toy

         11  guns in your words. I see there is a two-way street,

         12  to what extent have you been given an assurance by

         13  the Commissioner of the Police Department that by

         14  the same token, as we are working from this end,

         15  make certain that these guns are properly identified

         16  so that they are not mistaken for the real guns, to

         17  what extent have you been given an assurance by the

         18  Police Commissioner that certain trainings will be

         19  taking place in order to prepare the police officers

         20  in order that they are not as trigger, as quick on

         21  the trigger as they have been in reacting to these

         22  toy guns that seem to be quite real?

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Council

         24  Member, if I might respond.

         25                 My understanding from our
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          2  conversations with the Police Department, that the

          3  Police Commissioner did not receive an invitation.

          4  If there has been any miscommunication, I think that

          5  should be clarified. But it is our understanding

          6  that the Police Commissioner did not receive an

          7  invitation.

          8                 I can tell you that we work very

          9  closely with the Police Department on this issue, in

         10  addition to sharing our information with them and

         11  their sharing their information with us.

         12                 As you know, in this area, as in so

         13  many of the other areas where the Council has set up

         14  a system of both criminal, as well as civil

         15  enforcement, we end up working very closely trying

         16  to police and educate the merchants while the Police

         17  Department focuses on taking criminal action when

         18  that is warranted as well.

         19                 So, they have been working quite

         20  closely with us sharing the information about

         21  locations that they believe where there is a need

         22  for criminal response, as well as locations where

         23  perhaps it is more effective for us to go in and

         24  deal with it on a consumer protection law basis.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: I do believe
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          2  that the onus is also on them in the way that they

          3  have been reacting so far in certain cases, given

          4  rise to the number of incidents that we have been

          5  having. I could be reaching for my driver's license,

          6  I could be reaching for anything, I could have a

          7  bulge in my pocket, or, you know, for whatever

          8  reason that would cause a police officer to just

          9  take it for granted that I am about to reach for a

         10  gun and, you know, without given thought to anything

         11  else, you know, they would be pressing their own,

         12  reaching for their own guns, and you know, pressing

         13  the trigger, because I do believe there should be

         14  some training on that end in order to sensitize them

         15  to what we are trying to enact here.

         16                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Council

         17  Member, I am not a spokesman for the Police

         18  Department, but I think I am fair in noting that the

         19  reports I have seen recently indicate that police

         20  officers fired their weapons fewer times this year

         21  than ever previously and that recent national

         22  comparisons of the NYPD to other Police Departments

         23  have come up with the conclusion that New York City

         24  police officers fire their guns improperly less

         25  often than any other jurisdictions. But, again, the
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          2  nuances and the details of the Police Department's

          3  readiness and training are I think not for me to

          4  specially debate, but I think that I certainly have

          5  admired the way that the Department's statistics on

          6  this issue have compared very favorably across the

          7  country.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Our aim is not

          9  to cause them to fire their guns on fewer occasions

         10  but for them not to fire their guns not even once

         11  where it is not warranted, because, you know, a

         12  human life is at stake in that case.

         13                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think

         14  certainly the purpose of this legislation, which is

         15  intended to ensure that these items which we are

         16  recognizing by the purpose of this legislation, we

         17  all I think recognize that this item, when carried

         18  by a child, creates dangerous environments and we

         19  are recognizing that this is when there are going to

         20  be errors that we perhaps understand. We recognize

         21  that we are creating a situation where at dark

         22  certainly an item like this in a pocket, I don't

         23  know that I want to, in my position, tell a police

         24  officer how he should react when he sees someone in

         25  the dark with an item like this in his pant pocket.
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          2  I think we can always debate afterwards how and what

          3  and then the level of training and the level of

          4  reaction. But I think what we try to do by this

          5  legislation is recognize that this item isn't a toy.

          6  This item looks like a gun and is a dangerous toy

          7  and so by the purpose of this legislation, we hope

          8  to prevent having the debate on the side of well,

          9  did the police officer fire because it was a gun, it

         10  wasn't a gun, he thought it was a gun, he should

         11  have thought it was a gun, what color should it have

         12  been, where was the child, why was he out, who was

         13  he out with -- I think the goal is to ensure that

         14  these items aren't available so that that kind of

         15  situation doesn't come about.

         16                 And so, we certainly are going to be

         17  doing our part as a consumer protection agency to

         18  try to prevent these items from being available in

         19  the marketplace so that that debate is one that

         20  doesn't come to take place.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Well, you see

         22  where I am coming from, it is not that, you know, we

         23  are trying to identify the guns so that they are

         24  easily, you know, identified in the dark, but also

         25  to train the police officers so that within that
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          2  split second, because that is all they would have,

          3  that is all the time they would have, that split

          4  second for them to ensure that the gun is not a real

          5  gun, hence the need for them to be trained to

          6  respond.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          8                 Before I call on our next person,

          9  Council Member, to ask questions, I just want to say

         10  for the record that the Police Department said they

         11  had never gotten the letter that we had sent and we

         12  had told the legislative affairs office that, you

         13  know, the Police Department was invited, but as far

         14  as we are concerned we did send the letter to the

         15  Police Department.

         16                 Council Member Freed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you,

         18  Madame Chair.

         19                 One of the things I am concerned

         20  about, and I am co-sponsoring the bill and obviously

         21  support it, but one of the things is like a lot of

         22  times in the example where the child was killed when

         23  he was holding a gun, is a lot of this happens at

         24  night, and even with the orange and all the other

         25  colors and the silver colors, I am wondering if we
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          2  shouldn't look into the idea of having

          3  phosphorescent, something that would reflect back

          4  light, that at night would -- because it seems like

          5  the problem was they saw a silhouette or the outline

          6  of the gun and even with the orange there, I am not

          7  sure that that would solve the problem at night, and

          8  I was wondering if you had any thoughts on that.

          9                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think I

         10  should open my response with this note. No matter

         11  how strict we end up being with the New York City

         12  legislation, and then hopefully the federal

         13  government perhaps does as well, there is going to

         14  be a danger created if a child is out at night

         15  waving around something that looks anything like a

         16  gun. And I think the first line of responsibility we

         17  all recognize is parents who need to be wary of what

         18  their kids are doing and where they are and, you

         19  know, are they acting inappropriately at late hours

         20  in a way that is going to endanger themselves, a

         21  child that is riding around on a bike at 3:00 and

         22  waving a piece of wood, you know, is likely to have

         23  neighbors calling for a Police Department response

         24  and certainly, you know, it puts -- whenever one

         25  calls the Police Department and reports somebody is
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          2  out there waving -- and frankly there are often, and

          3  I can't give you the numbers but there are numerous

          4  occasions where citizens who are aware the Police

          5  Department properly responds on an emergency basis

          6  when the report is there is a man with a gun, I

          7  think we want the Police Department reacting quite

          8  quickly when there is a serious report over 911 with

          9  a man with a gun menacing people, and, frankly, that

         10  kind of response is going to create a dangerous

         11  situation when the police come upon the scene,

         12  obviously ready to make an expert assessment about

         13  what the reality is, but coming and responding to a

         14  report that says somebody with gun.

         15                 And, so, I think that the first line

         16  of response needs to be the parent and our children

         17  being very aware that you are creating a grave

         18  danger when you are acting in this way.

         19                 The federal legislation specifically

         20  talks about some of the colors, referring to

         21  different bright colors. I think we certainly can

         22  look at whether and what exactly we mean by how

         23  bright and does it mean more or less bright. Clearly

         24  the federal standard right now is somewhat different

         25  than you will continue to see brightly colored guns
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          2  that are not not phosphorizing around, but I think

          3  we can and should continue to look for ways to limit

          4  any of the ways these items appear to be dangerous.

          5                 Certainly a gun like this, you know,

          6  which is illegal under City, state and federal law,

          7  is going to create a serious danger and so I think

          8  we have a ways to go at taking some of these

          9  enormously realistic items and getting them out of

         10  the system of commerce.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Although it is

         12  bright and shiny.

         13                 I wanted to ask also, because you had

         14  mentioned about the question of enforcement

         15  authority, where you wanted both enforcement and

         16  hearing authority and if you answered this I am

         17  sorry, but you mentioned that right now if someone

         18  is fined, the only thing you can do really is take

         19  them into Civil Court, and I am wondering how often

         20  that happens in a case like this and basically what

         21  kind of time and expense are we talking about and

         22  how successful are you?

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We have had

         24  pretty good collection rates when it has come to

         25  fines here.
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          2                 However, I will tell you we often end

          3  up settling and usually settling for as close to the

          4  maximum as possible. We know that our hand is weaker

          5  than it would be if the attorney for the other side

          6  realizes that if they don't pay we will have to

          7  initiate a court action, and so when our settlement

          8  officers issued eight violations to a specific store

          9  because he has got eight guns, then our maximum

         10  penalty could be eight times the 350 over there, you

         11  know, two-thousand plus dollars and we end up

         12  working out an $1,800 or $1,500 or $1,200

         13  settlement, we do that based on the realization that

         14  the alternative is a court proceeding to collect a

         15  thousand or two-thousand dollars which we can do and

         16  do when is necessary, but, frankly, isn't always the

         17  easiest way for us to devote our resources.

         18                 So, we have had a pretty good

         19  collection rate probably because many of the stores

         20  are embarrassed. We try to highly publicize in the

         21  local press stores which stores are selling these

         22  items, and we have found it to be an effective

         23  sanction. We are going to revisit some of the stores

         24  that we have issued previous violations to try to

         25  get a sense as to whether some of them just laid low
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          2  for awhile and are now selling these items again

          3  because they see it as an item of profit. But it is

          4  one of the areas where we need to unfortunately

          5  balance whether or not we want to go to court for a

          6  $300 fine which may not be worth, you know, a week's

          7  worth of work or several days worth of work for an

          8  attorney, versus having an administrative law

          9  decision which a retailer is more likely to comply

         10  with because he is seeing an official government

         11  decision instead of just a fine, or if we do need to

         12  go to court, it's a much simpler process.

         13                 So, one of the things that the

         14  Council has been doing in recent legislative

         15  efforts, as we focused on some of these additional

         16  consumer protective type dangers, is giving the

         17  agency specific enforcement.

         18                 In many areas we have been creative

         19  in looking at things that are illegal under federal,

         20  state or city law, and then determining that they

         21  are there for unconscionable trade practices, and

         22  certainly that is an appropriate way to proceed and

         23  gives us wide latitude in so many areas where the

         24  agency is able to take action. But where the Council

         25  was specifically noting an area to be a problem, and
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          2  specifically legislating, I think we should make it

          3  a specific consumer protection law violation, which

          4  the bill doesn't do but I think can and should do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes, I know the

          6  question of enforcement has been an ongoing question

          7  for you and wanting to do it without having to go to

          8  Civil Court.

          9                 Okay, thank you very much.

         10                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         12  Fiala.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

         14  Madame Chair. I have a comment, not a question. And

         15  I apologize for going in and out, I have three

         16  Committee meetings today.

         17                 I want to thank you for sponsoring

         18  this and thank Borough President Fields for bringing

         19  this to our attention and requesting that it be

         20  sponsored.

         21                 I read your testimony, Commissioner,

         22  and I think that the additions that you recommend

         23  are pragmatic ones and we should look at

         24  incorporating them into Intro. 480.

         25                 I also think that Council Member
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          2  Freed suggesting that we look at possibly look at

          3  incorporating fluorescent colors onto these products

          4  are worthy of exploration also.

          5                 This obviously is a case where the

          6  federal government is lagging, it should be kind of

          7  a universal policy nationwide so that we don't have

          8  these tragedies. But if New York has to lead the

          9  way, we should lead the way, we do it for so many

         10  other things.

         11                 Finally, I would ask that, I note my

         12  name is not on here and I note I signed onto Intro.

         13  480 when it was brought to my attention, so I

         14  request that the Council see to it that my name is

         15  incorporated onto 480.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Consider it

         18  done.

         19                 Thank you very, very much. And I look

         20  forward to working with you.

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Thank you,

         22  councilwoman Koslowitz, and members of the

         23  Committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would like

         25  to now call on Manhattan Borough President C.
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          2  Virginia Fields.

          3                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you,

          4  Madame Chair.

          5                 Good afternoon. It is always still --

          6  I think this is perhaps my fourth time sitting in

          7  this seat addressing the Council from this side, but

          8  it always feels good and today it is especially good

          9  because of the issue of which you are focusing your

         10  hearing today.

         11                 So, I want to thank you, Madame

         12  Chair, and all of the members of the Committee, for

         13  taking the time, and I know it is of interest to

         14  you, and that is why I was very pleased as I was

         15  discussing this with one of our residents here in

         16  Manhattan, and I know he will be speaking later,

         17  Steve Portnou, and spoke with you, Chair Karen

         18  Koslowitz, and certainly have had discussions with

         19  Councilwoman Annette Robinson, I knew of your

         20  tremendous interest in this issue. And because we

         21  all agree that clearly too many New Yorkers have

         22  been seriously injured or killed, and especially

         23  children.

         24                 And I think we also feel we are tired

         25  of after the fact simply being able to express
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          2  outrage and I think there is something more

          3  proactive we can do and in this case it is perhaps

          4  legislatively. That's why I am very grateful for the

          5  time and the effort that you are giving to this

          6  critically important issue.

          7                 Back in October, my office was able

          8  to purchase the guns that are on display here today

          9  roughly from about four stores in Manhattan. There

         10  are ten stores visited and the guns which you see

         11  here were actually purchased from four of those

         12  stores. They are Halloween Adventure, 104 Fourth

         13  Avenue, MC&R Toy Corp, located at 143 West 27th

         14  Street, Crown Supermarket, located at 2215 Seventh

         15  Avenue, corner of 131st Street and Dell's

         16  Stationery, located at 578 West 125th Street.

         17                 Upon purchasing these guns we

         18  communicated this information with Commissioner

         19  Polonetsky and that is why I was very pleased to

         20  hear his presentation today and his commitment to

         21  looking further at this critically important issue,

         22  asking that certainly there be more education done

         23  with many of the merchants, because quite frankly,

         24  we were finding that even in speaking with a couple

         25  of them there was some expression of not being aware
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          2  of whether or not they should be selling this.

          3                 So we focused on education in our

          4  response to the Commissioner, as well as

          5  enforcement, and of course he did speak to what he

          6  is doing in terms of following up on that.

          7                 So, it is something that I believe we

          8  are all on the same page because we know of the

          9  potential daily consequences and we want to do all

         10  that we can to protect the lives of children

         11  throughout our City, and one of the ways I think

         12  this legislation will begin to move us in that

         13  direction.

         14                 Specifically, as you know, the

         15  proposed local law would amend the administration

         16  code by outlawing the intent to sell, the possession

         17  or use of any imitation firearms which substantially

         18  duplicates an actual firearm.

         19                 The existing law only applies to toy

         20  handguns but the new legislation would of course

         21  apply to all firearms, including toy machine guns

         22  and rifles.

         23                 Also, the existing law only bans toy

         24  guns that are black, silver, aluminum or blue. And

         25  we are saying in support of your legislation
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          2  requiring that the toy guns be a bright color, and

          3  Councilwoman Freed, of course, has added to that.

          4  Because in effect this can be sold now, this is a

          5  toy gun, and this orange cap can easily be removed

          6  as we did with a ballpoint pen or something.

          7                 Now, if one of us saw this, and a

          8  person especially in the dark, even a police officer

          9  seeing this pointed at them, their reaction is

         10  predictable. This is a toy gun.

         11                 Finally, the legislation calls for

         12  increasing or adding a civil penalty of $1,000 to

         13  the existing misdemeanor. I believe that the

         14  proposed amendments that are being discussed at this

         15  public hearing today, as I said, will certainly keep

         16  or help to keep realistic toy guns out of the hands

         17  of children, and by doing so I believe will

         18  certainly save lives and not any of us can afford or

         19  sit back and allow the possibility of another

         20  individual or another person possibly being injured

         21  or killed because they are able to buy this as a toy

         22  gun and it endangers everybody's lives, including

         23  those of police officers, as well as our children.

         24                 So, Madame Chair, and members of the

         25  Committee, I thank you, and I look forward to seeing
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          2  hopefully this legislation move forward, and please

          3  know that you have the support of my office in any

          4  way that I can be part of doing whatever role we can

          5  play in making this happen.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          8  Thank you for working with us, and I am happy to say

          9  that over half the Council Members have already gone

         10  on the legislation, and I look forward to passing

         11  this legislation to save the lives of our children.

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And also I

         14  feel that this will certainly help the Police

         15  Department. So, I thank you very, very much.

         16                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would like

         18  to call on Paul DelDuca, from Assemblyman Ruben

         19  Diaz' office.

         20                 MR. DELDUCA: Thank you very much,

         21  Madame Chairwoman, and distinguished members of the

         22  Committee.

         23                 The Assemblyman would have liked to

         24  have been here today, however, he is in Albany

         25  conducting serious business of New York State. I
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          2  will attempt to read his statement into the record

          3  as swiftly as I can.

          4                 Let me begin by thanking you for

          5  convening this important hearing and for having

          6  invited all of the concerned parties to the table

          7  who are most affected by the crucial and

          8  life-threatening matters being discussed today.

          9                 As a member of the New York State

         10  Assembly's Education, Children and Families and

         11  Government Ops Committees, and as the Assemblyman

         12  representing the 75th Assembly District of the

         13  Bronx, I have come to speak to you in order to

         14  address the needs of all of my constituents and to

         15  ensure their concerns are heard and responded to.

         16                 I am here today to speak out strongly

         17  and unwaiveringly in support of the passage of

         18  Intro. 480, which will amend the Administrative Code

         19  of the City of New York in relation to imitation

         20  firearms.

         21                 This laudable piece of legislation

         22  will, for all intents and purposes, replicate

         23  article 39-b of the General Business Law of New York

         24  State, thus making the City's Administrative Code

         25  correspond with existing state law. This is indeed a
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          2  significant step in the right direction.

          3                 I recommend, however, that we need to

          4  reach beyond the existing legislation. Painful

          5  experience has shown us time and time again that it

          6  is simply not enough to impose penalty for the

          7  manufacturing of so-called toys. I believe that we

          8  need to reach forward and craft a new approach and

          9  framework within which to address the deadly impact

         10  of imitation firearms. We can all recall all too

         11  clearly the terrible shooting of 16-year-old Michael

         12  Jones in 1998 by two plainclothes officers who

         13  thought they were responding to a call about a gun

         14  man riding a bicycle.

         15                 In the wake of that appalling

         16  incident, I committed myself to do everything in my

         17  power to stop any incidence of this kind from

         18  occurring again.

         19                 To that end, I have crafted

         20  legislation amending the New York State's General

         21  Obligations Law, legislation that will protect the

         22  children and families across every part of New York

         23  State, legislation that I will introduce in this

         24  session of the New York State assembly.

         25                 That legislation has specifically
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          2  been designed to hold liable and impose penalties on

          3  the manufacturers, distributors and retailers for

          4  any and all harm inflicted upon consumers and

          5  bystanders as a result of the purchase and use of

          6  "toy guns".

          7                 I want to applaud the Council for

          8  your wisdom in moving forward at this time to ensure

          9  that those necessary steps are taken so that the

         10  City will end the toy gun crisis.

         11                 I would urge you not to stop at the

         12  present proposed legislation, but rather to go

         13  beyond existing business law, legislation regarding

         14  realistic imitation firearms. Clearly, it is just

         15  simply irresponsible for toy guns to be manufactured

         16  to resemble real weapons.

         17                 It is equally irresponsible for those

         18  potentially deadly toys to be shipped, distributed,

         19  marketed and sold to any child of New York City and

         20  of New York State, just as clearly current

         21  manufacturing and appearance changes have not been

         22  sufficient to put a stop to the deadly consequences.

         23                 I am going to move on to the next

         24  page.

         25                 The legislation that I am proposing
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          2  in New York State Assembly is intended to impose a

          3  strict product liability legislation with regards to

          4  toy guns.

          5                 This legislation is directed at toy

          6  gun manufacturers, distributors and retailers alike,

          7  at every step in the distribution, marketing and

          8  selling process and will hold them all directly

          9  responsible for any injurious consequences

         10  associated with the purchase and ownership of toy

         11  guns.

         12                 I believe that the families and

         13  community members, law enforcement and everyone

         14  concerned with the safety of our children would

         15  agree that the kind of long-standing and highly

         16  effective applied product liability law that has

         17  been designed to widely cover the vast array of

         18  consumer goods, such as cleaning products and child

         19  care seats, must be applied to toy guns.

         20                 What is also true of both the

         21  existing Section 872 of New York State Business Law

         22  and of Intro. 480, which is here before us today, is

         23  they impose a penalty of not more than $1,000 for

         24  violation of those laws.

         25                 Surely, the recurring death of our
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          2  City's children due to the possession of these

          3  already illegal toys, makes it incumbent upon us to

          4  take further and more stringent measures and to

          5  impose more severe economic penalties.

          6                 I am moving to the last page.

          7                 Across every corner of every borough,

          8  the residents of New York City, including my

          9  constituents have called for action. As is our

         10  sacred duty as legislators, I have responded to

         11  their call through the legislation I have crafted.

         12  Those manufacturers, distributors or retailers who

         13  refuse to voluntarily cease and desist from putting

         14  these deadly products on the streets of our state,

         15  should incur swift and severe penalties.

         16                 I thank you for the wisdom, vigilance

         17  and swiftness of action of each and every one of you

         18  here today, and for stepping up to the plate to take

         19  action in the City of New York, regarding this

         20  crucial matter that cries out for action.

         21                 I look forward to working with you as

         22  a member of the New York State Assembly, as the

         23  members of our two legislatures thus commit

         24  themselves to do everything in our power to prevent

         25  another child in my district, in this City, or

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  anywhere in New York State from dying because of

          3  realistic toy guns.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          6  Thank you very much. And please thank the

          7  Assemblyman. In fact, I will be there in Albany

          8  tomorrow and I will thank him in person.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. DELDUCA: Thank you, Madame

         11  Chairwoman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would like

         13  to call on Frederick Locker.

         14                 MR. LOCKER: Good afternoon. Thank you

         15  for inviting me to come and give some testimony.

         16                 First of all, I want to make it clear

         17  that I am appearing here on behalf of the Toy

         18  Manufacturers of America, TMA, and I am appearing

         19  specifically in connection with the proposal before

         20  the Council to amend subdivision G of Section 10-131

         21  of the Administrative Code of the City of New York,

         22  dealing with imitation firearms.

         23                 Let me tell you a little something

         24  about TMA first. TMA is a not-for-profit trade

         25  association composed of more than 300 manufacturers
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          2  whose aggregate sales at the regional level exceed

          3  $22 billion annually.

          4                 TMA's Office is located at 1115

          5  Broadway in New York. TMA members manufacture and

          6  sell in excess of 85 percent of all toys sold in the

          7  United States and about 50 percent of all toys sold

          8  worldwide today.

          9                 Our members are global in character

         10  and their sales remain extensively not just in the

         11  United States, but throughout the rest of the world.

         12                 We have been located in New York City

         13  more than 80 years. We sponsor the American

         14  International Toy Fair, commonly known as Toy Fair,

         15  and it is recognized as the largest toy trade show

         16  in the world today.

         17                 It has been held annually in New York

         18  since 1934, and it is the most prestigious toy fair

         19  as well.

         20                 Toy Fair is held in New York City

         21  every February for eight days and I invite any of

         22  you who would like to attend to call us and we will

         23  arrange for you to do just that.

         24                 The next Toy Fair will commence on

         25  February 8th, 1999, and involves more than 1 million
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          2  square feet in the 23rd Street Flat Iron area, and

          3  additionally Toy Fair occupies the entire Javits

          4  Convention Center or it certainly will by the Year

          5  2000.

          6                 It has been estimated the economic

          7  benefit to the City of New York of Toy Fair exceeds

          8  $200 million annually.

          9                 Now, together with the U.S.

         10  Government, TMA and its members have led the world

         11  in the development of toy safety standards. We have

         12  invested heavily in child development research,

         13  dynamic safety testing, quality assurance, risk

         14  analysis, anthropometric studies of children. Since

         15  the 1960s we have been involved and have a tradition

         16  of working with others to ensure that the

         17  manufacture and distribution of toys that are safe.

         18  Safety doesn't just sell products, it is not only in

         19  our interest to have safety products, but it is

         20  expected of us by consumers.

         21                 We are proud of our recognized

         22  accomplishment in this area of toy safety for many

         23  decades. We have established relationships with the

         24  National Safety Council, the National Bureau of

         25  Standards, the American National Standards
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          2  Institute, the American Society of Testing and

          3  Materials, and the International Standards

          4  Organization as well.

          5                 We lead the world in the development

          6  of voluntary toy safety standards. The current

          7  version of that standard is ASTM 96396A. It has been

          8  around for 20 years. It is modified every five

          9  years. It was last published in 1997 and that covers

         10  a whole host of areas that effect and deal with toy

         11  safety.

         12                 We are currently working on and

         13  leading the world in the development of an ISO 9000

         14  global toy safety standard, which we hope to have

         15  imposed upon the world within the next few years.

         16                 We work not just with these

         17  organizations but at the International Consumer

         18  Product Health and Safety Organization, which is an

         19  organization of state and national consumer

         20  enforcement and enforcement officials. The National

         21  Safe Kids Campaign, and also the U.S. Consumer

         22  Product Safety Commission, otherwise known a the

         23  CPSC.

         24                 Now, with regard to toy guns in

         25  particular, we are extraordinarily proud of our role
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          2  in supreme development and passage of the federal

          3  imitation firearms law commonly known as the federal

          4  toy guns law.

          5                 It was enacted in 1988 and it was

          6  enacted, I must say, with a non-partisanship, that

          7  you don't see in congress today. It was spearheaded

          8  at that time by Senator Robert Dole and Congressman

          9  Moorehead.

         10                 The statute as is set forth in full

         11  is annexed to my statement. I would urge the Council

         12  to study these laws and statutes and regulations and

         13  to craft a law that is consistent and complimentary

         14  and is uniform and will not lead to the chaotic

         15  imposition of 1,000 different requirements by 1,000

         16  different localities.

         17                 I sat with amusement listening to the

         18  Consumer Affairs officials of New York City

         19  testifying, and also listening to the questions put

         20  forth by this Council. It appears to me that you are

         21  correct in assuming there is a tremendous amount of

         22  confusion when it comes into the fact of what laws

         23  exist, what they provide, do they conflict, are they

         24  preempted, what provisions would be, what provisions

         25  wouldn't be.
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          2                 We have a state law, we have a city

          3  law and we have a federal law, and I think it is

          4  important for everyone to work together and get a

          5  uniformed law that could apply across the nation.

          6                 But let me talk a little bit about

          7  what exists for now, and the fact of the matter is

          8  that toy guns since 1988 must strictly conform to

          9  the market requirements implemented pursuant to this

         10  statute.

         11                 The regulations are known as

         12  requirements for marking of toy look-alike and

         13  imitation firearms. They are administered by the

         14  U.S. Department of Commerce, who has assistance also

         15  with the U.S. Customs Service, who surveys imported

         16  toys. Obviously you cannot get every one, but they

         17  do a pretty good job.

         18                 Now, effective in October 1992, after

         19  the U.S. Justice Department studied the issue

         20  extensively and issued a number of reports, products

         21  that were subject to these requirements, must be

         22  marked in one of the following ways: A blaze orange

         23  solid plug permanently affixed to the muzzle end of

         24  the barrel as an integral part of the device and

         25  recessed no more than six millimeters from the
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          2  muzzle of the barrel; a blaze orange marking

          3  permanently affixed to the exterior surface of the

          4  barrel, covering the circumference of the barrel

          5  from the muzzle end for a depth of at least six

          6  millimeters; or coloration of the entire exterior

          7  surface of the device in white or bright red,

          8  orange, yellow, green, blue, pink or purple, either

          9  singly of as the predominant color in combination

         10  with other colors.

         11                 Toy guns, which in 1997 represented

         12  1.2 percent of all dollars spent on toys, are

         13  occasionally criticized by consumer groups and

         14  others. We have certainly heard some of that today.

         15  The Association believes that the responsibility for

         16  how they are played with and by whom ultimately

         17  rests with parents and care-givers.

         18                 I am sure it must come as a surprise

         19  to a few of you to discover that a trade association

         20  of manufacturers, which includes manufacturers of

         21  toy guns, consistently and wholeheartedly supported

         22  this uniform national scheme of marking guns to

         23  avoid confusion with the real thing.

         24                 TMA's view is that promoting children

         25  safety is a constant obligation and duty for
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          2  everyone. Believe me, I was upset as anyone when I

          3  read last August in the newspapers about the

          4  shooting incident of 16-year-old Michael Jones of

          5  Brooklyn by police officers responding to a call

          6  about an armed bicyclist. I applaud your efforts to

          7  strengthen the existing City law which applies only

          8  to toys that look like handguns and to improve

          9  enforcement against products which do not currently

         10  comply with the existing federal toy gun law and

         11  your proposed new law. Certainly we would have no

         12  opposition to the comments put forward by the

         13  Consumer Affairs Commissioner in providing for a

         14  more streamlined enforcement method. As a matter of

         15  fact we would favor greater enforcement of these

         16  laws, as I have indicated, many of our members do

         17  produce guns that are already brightly colored, and

         18  many of our retail partners such as Toys R Us refuse

         19  to carry realistic looking toy guns.

         20                 It is truly ironic that producers of

         21  products which are perfectly safe and provide hours

         22  of fun and enjoyment to children and did to

         23  ourselves, even now as parents when we were younger

         24  in playing with our children, are subject to

         25  stricter safety standards and real gun
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          2  manufacturers, whose products claim the lives of

          3  over 38,000 people per year.

          4                 And as to the Jones incident, I

          5  remember all too well what arose in trying to shift

          6  the blame to the toys, rather than the circumstances

          7  surrounding the incident.

          8                 The Brooklyn District Attorney

          9  concluded the police officers had acted properly. It

         10  seems that the circumstances provided an outline of

         11  disaster waiting to happen. Police were called by

         12  citizens who grew alarmed by the youth riding around

         13  the streets at 2:30 a.m. in the morning. An off duty

         14  police officer reported that Jones had been menacing

         15  people in cars with what looked like a handgun.

         16  Jones himself had chosen to live on the streets for

         17  a period of time to score points with a youth gang.

         18                 When they arrived on the scene they

         19  demanded that he drop his weapon but he refused. The

         20  fact remains that in many of these cases it is not

         21  just the toy that determines the action, but the

         22  surrounding circumstances.

         23                 We can all agree that the best way to

         24  protect our young is to keep them out of harms way

         25  and to teach them not to engage in a responsible
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          2  behavior.

          3                 As the Mayor questioned after the

          4  incident why was a teenager out unsupervised at 2:30

          5  in the morning? Proper adult supervision would have

          6  avoided the tragedy altogether. Unfortunately, all

          7  too often that does not exist. There are many

          8  victims in situations like this, the teenager was

          9  shot and seriously injured.

         10                 The officers who responded to a

         11  situation in which they thought their own lives were

         12  in jeopardy, now have to bear the emotional scars of

         13  the shooting, the boy's family, when they questioned

         14  what went wrong or how they failed this child, and

         15  the people in the community who felt threatened and

         16  menaced enough to call the police to the scene in

         17  the first place. It is all too easy to simply blame

         18  the toy, and ignore the other circumstances.

         19                 All too often in our society we take

         20  the simplistic way out, when in fact the issues and

         21  circumstances are unbearably more complex and

         22  require greater thought and attention. The fact of

         23  the matter is there is no simple catch-all answer.

         24                 A criminal intent on doing mischief

         25  or harm can also easily obtain a real gun or spray a
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          2  toy black, notwithstanding the requirements of the

          3  federal toy gun law, or the New York State or the

          4  City laws for that matter.

          5                 I remember attending a meeting in

          6  Washington of the Justice Department. One of the

          7  biggest concerns of police and law enforcement

          8  officials, that when the law went into effect, that

          9  criminals would take real guns and paint them to

         10  look like toy guns, so they might gain an advantage

         11  in a situation.

         12                 Laws already exist on the books which

         13  deal harshly with criminal behavior or menacing with

         14  both real and fake weapons, however, enforcement of

         15  those laws is another matter. All too often they are

         16  not enforced.

         17                 The circumstances more often dictate

         18  the outcome as I have said, rather than the product

         19  involved. Does the product play a role? Of course it

         20  does.

         21                 Talk to law enforcement personnel at

         22  the Police Department, call the FBI, the Secret

         23  Service, visit them as I have, at training grounds

         24  at Quantico and you will learn what I have learned,

         25  that officers are trained to respond to the totality
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          2  of circumstances, if they feel the public or they

          3  themselves are threatened with violence or harm.

          4                 Don't you remember the boy that was

          5  shot when he pulled a Three Musketeers Bar from his

          6  pocket? The New York graffiti artist who had only a

          7  spray paint can? Sometimes people reaching for a

          8  cigarette lighter or a comb or a flashlight, the

          9  devil is in the details, under what circumstances

         10  are they involved? Is it a threatening situation? Is

         11  it in the wee hours of the morning? Is the person

         12  drunk or sober? Is a commission of crime involved?

         13  So, if you want to pass a law, I would urge you to

         14  pass one that does no harm. I would urge you to be

         15  thoughtful in uniforming your approach. I would urge

         16  you to embrace and adopt many of the provisions of

         17  the federal toy gun law, and to provide for funds

         18  for enforcement. Maybe it would be a good idea if

         19  the penalties collected went to those people

         20  enforcing the laws to provide an incentive for

         21  greater enforcement. And when you are done with

         22  that, I would urge you to turn your attention to the

         23  more complicated serious underlying issues that

         24  incidents like this raise.

         25                 Thank you. And if you have any
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          2  questions at all, I am happy to provide answers, to

          3  the best of my ability anyway.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: On the guns on

          5  the panel there, under your legislation, which would

          6  be legal?

          7                 MR. LOCKER: Well, you have to

          8  understand, let's talk about New York City

          9  legislation as it exists today. None of those guns

         10  would be legal today.

         11                 Then the New York City law that went

         12  into effect went into effect in 1955, the year I was

         13  born, by the way. New York City was actually one of

         14  the first areas in the country, if not the first, to

         15  adopt an invitation gun law. So, under the New York

         16  City law, none of them would.

         17                 Under the federal toy gun law,

         18  because of the use of the blazer are unplugged, a

         19  number of those guns would be permitted. But under

         20  what I am talking about as a proposal, if you were

         21  to impose a dual requirement of coloration -- now, I

         22  have a proposal that mirrors the federal law, but if

         23  you substitute or, and for or, you would have it.

         24                 I think the important thing to

         25  realize is, as the Councilman suggested before, that
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          2  notwithstanding some comments there is a serious

          3  preemption issue that is involved.

          4                 The current New York City law has

          5  been upheld by the New York Court of Appeals as

          6  being valid. And the reason that was done is the

          7  Court of Appeals found the two laws were not

          8  inconsistent with one another.

          9                 What did they mean by inconsistent?

         10  They said the two laws are not inconsistent if you

         11  can comply with both, basically that you can do by

         12  restriction what you could not otherwise do by

         13  prescription.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay. I have

         15  to say that I have a very strong feeling on this,

         16  and I mean, you know, whether it be the federal law

         17  or whatever, I mean if we had to take this to

         18  Washington, you know, that's okay too, because I

         19  have a problem. You see, I am older than you are,

         20  and when I was growing up they didn't make guns.

         21                 MR. LOCKER: Not much, Madame Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What?

         23                 MR. LOCKER: Not much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: They didn't

         25  make guns like this. They couldn't go out and buy a
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          2  gun that looked like this, nor my children when they

          3  were growing up, they could not go out and buy guns

          4  that looked like this.

          5                 Why in the last years have they made

          6  guns to look like real guns? What is the purpose of

          7  that?

          8                 I know when I was a little girl, my

          9  father when I was first born wanted a boy and he

         10  wound up with a girl, and I know that I had guns in

         11  a holster as a child and a cowboy outfit. I mean, my

         12  father was a very good father to me and I loved him

         13  dearly and he accepted I was a girl, so I gave him

         14  his little wishes by playing with his guns that he

         15  had given me.

         16                 But, however, they didn't make toys

         17  like that when I was a kid, nor did they make toys

         18  that resembled real things when my children were

         19  growing up and my children are 32 and 35.

         20                 MR. LOCKER: If you take a look at

         21  that gun, for example, on the bottom right-hand

         22  corner, the imitation of the old western, that same

         23  gun has probably been made for 40 or 50 years in

         24  that way as a toy. That was used in a holster, of

         25  course it didn't have the blaze orange plug at the
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          2  end of it. And actually many of the toys and guns

          3  that were made were just as realistic as the ones

          4  today. Of course the number of firearms in the

          5  marketplace, real guns upon which are modeled but

          6  much more limited, and that is sort of what happens

          7  in the marketplace.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But don't you

          9  think I know you go into the store today and will

         10  take lesser toys that are as dangerous, but you

         11  could buy a cell phone as a toy, you could buy a

         12  beeper as a toy, and you could buy other toys that

         13  resemble other things that say like the children's

         14  parents have.

         15                 Now, of course, telephones and

         16  beepers, they are not dangerous. They are not

         17  dangerous to the children. I mean, I am a

         18  grandmother, and I think I spend more money in toy

         19  stores than I do in any other kind of store.

         20                 But don't you think that the toy

         21  companies are like playing on the children to make

         22  things look more real such as these guns?

         23                 MS. LOCKER: I think an element of

         24  that is involved. I also think that if you take a

         25  look at most of the major manufacturers of toys, and
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          2  I am talking about the major U.S. manufacturers, you

          3  will see they all have policies and conditions in

          4  place not to make realistic toys. Of if they make

          5  toy guns, to make them so that they are brightly

          6  colored so that they cannot be confused. And that is

          7  what led in 1992 the adoption of these bright color

          8  schemes as part of the regulations of the Department

          9  of Commerce. And I think there is a tremendous trend

         10  towards that. I would say that many of these

         11  products represent more than a large minority, a

         12  minuscule minority of products that are in the

         13  marketplace today.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Because I mean

         15  you also said in your testimony about parents taking

         16  the responsibility and caretakers. Now, we were all

         17  children once, and children get allowances today and

         18  parents will, you know, go to business today more so

         19  than any other time but we were all children and we

         20  all know that if we wanted to do something that our

         21  parents may not have agreed with 100 percent, I

         22  don't think there is anyone sitting in this room

         23  that didn't do something that their parents wouldn't

         24  disagree on.

         25                 So, if you want to put the
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          2  responsibility on the parents, we also have to put

          3  the responsibility on the manufacturers not to

          4  encourage this.

          5                 MR. LOCKER: I wholeheartedly agree,

          6  which is why I say it is everyone's responsibility.

          7                 You an interesting thing happened in

          8  1988, after they passed this bill in 1988. Part of

          9  the bill required the U.S. Justice Department to

         10  study the issue, and they came up with some very

         11  interesting findings associated with toy guns. One

         12  report was issued by the Police Executive Research

         13  Forum, and it concluded that a number of Police

         14  Departments, for example, deactivate, seize real

         15  firearms, paint them red for use in training

         16  exercise. These guns were commonly known as red

         17  handles and not only served as a training aid, but

         18  subliminally they had the tendency to reinforce the

         19  lesson to officers that any gun, regardless of

         20  color, must be treated as a real threat, and no

         21  distinctions between guns should be made and so the

         22  situation is under control.

         23                 Similarly, officers are trained that

         24  any one can pose a threat with a gun or any other

         25  product, depending upon the situation, regardless of
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          2  age or sex. So, even when they encounter a youth

          3  with a gun, it should be treated as a

          4  life-threatening circumstance.

          5                 This reinforces the fact that Police

          6  Departments are arresting increasing numbers of

          7  11-year-old to 14-year-old juveniles, both male and

          8  female, on weapons charges, most frequently

          9  associated with drug offenses.

         10                 Approaches such as these were meant

         11  to reinforce the need for officers to be

         12  conservative and assume that all weapons are real in

         13  threatening situations, and the only way that can be

         14  addressed is by training.

         15                 I would also point out that in many

         16  of the situations in other report issued by the

         17  Justice Department, interestingly enough they found

         18  the bright colorations were beneficial, but that

         19  issues such as distance and lighting and

         20  illumination were not. It was the totality of the

         21  circumstances in the situation that led to the

         22  particular result.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 MR. LOCKER: Thank you, Madame Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

          3                 I would like to call on Eric Adams.

          4                 MR. ADAMS: Good afternoon, members of

          5  the Committee. My name again is Eric Adams and I am

          6  representing a group called 100 Blacks in Law

          7  Enforcement. I am a lieutenant with the New York

          8  City Police Department.

          9                 I guess my concern and relationship

         10  to this issue is different from many of the other

         11  speakers because we would like to consider ourselves

         12  those are actually on the ball field watching the

         13  players.

         14                 I think there are major issues and

         15  this issue is almost, in my opinion, what is called

         16  a "no brainer", this is not a complicated issue. And

         17  when you read the law as it stands, there are

         18  several loopholes that are allowing imitation toy

         19  guns to continue to be on the City streets of our

         20  City.

         21                 Here is a gun a purchased from a

         22  store on Broadway in Brooklyn. As we see, it

         23  resembles some of the colors that are here. I didn't

         24  spend time with the Justice Department, I didn't

         25  spend time with the toy manufacturers. I went in the
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          2  streets and I spoke to the kids: How are you guys

          3  doing this? They showed me where to purchase the

          4  primer paint, black paint, they showed me how they

          5  want the guns to look real. Here is a gun that is

          6  painted with various colors. Once you turn it

          7  around, after simple creation, $1.99 can of paint,

          8  you now have a real gun.

          9                 Late at night you see this gun and

         10  you believe it is a real gun. What we need to do is

         11  change the shape of the gun. There is a level of

         12  creativity that goes into some of the toys that are

         13  on the market today. They either have a very

         14  animated shape and size, with a big bubble on the

         15  top, or the various forms and shapes you would never

         16  make the mistake to believe that it is a real

         17  handgun.

         18                 Now only are young adults victims of

         19  being shot, because all the incidents that have

         20  taken place in the prior years did not take place at

         21  3:00 in the morning -- I would like to bring your

         22  attention to Red Hook, Brooklyn. It was in the

         23  daylight hours where a young boy was shot for having

         24  a to rifle. So we cannot state that it is only

         25  taking place during the dark evening hours of the
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          2  City.

          3                 In addition to that, there are

          4  countless numbers of crimes that are taking place

          5  with imitation guns. These are numbers that are

          6  going under the radar, no one is picking up on these

          7  numbers. You have gunpoint robberies, gunpoint

          8  rapes, gunpoint burglaries where people are armed

          9  with toy guns.

         10                 It was only three days ago in the 94

         11  Precinct where I was on the desk. Three robberies

         12  took place in a two-day period, when the four males

         13  that were apprehended had a toy gun in their

         14  possession. If you would have asked any of those

         15  victims did they believe the gun was real or not,

         16  you better believe they believed it was real.

         17                 And there is a personal tragedy that

         18  is associated with the latest incident, it was only

         19  that day in August that members of my organization

         20  was holding a forum for young adults, what to do

         21  when stopped by the police. We were instructing them

         22  on guns such as this, how to interact and what to do

         23  and what not to do.

         24                 The sergeant that was there, Sergeant

         25  Nolitta (phonetic), that was leading the forum, it
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          2  was that night that he called me, Sunday morning at

          3  5:00 in the morning, and told me that he had to

          4  cradle this young man in his arms that had been shot

          5  several times by the New York City Police

          6  Department.

          7                 He stated that the young man was

          8  often falling in and out of consciousness and he

          9  shook him to keep him regaining consciousness until

         10  the ambulance arrived, and watching the blood flow

         11  in the street. It was very real to us. It is not

         12  some esoteric make believe problem that does not

         13  exist. You cannot support and argue the facts that

         14  if the New York City Police Department wanted to rid

         15  the stores of guns like that, they can do it

         16  overnight.

         17                 If we can spend the time and energy

         18  to put away annoying squeegie men and not concern

         19  ourselves with the costs that is associated with it,

         20  then I guarantee you, our proposal of putting our

         21  police officers on their beat using our peddler

         22  details to walk inside the stores, remove those

         23  imitation guns like this, it can be done overnight,

         24  with 38,000 uniformed officers in this City, there

         25  is no way you are going to tell me we are allowing
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          2  toy gun manufacturers to defeat the purpose of

          3  keeping our City safe. You must not put profit over

          4  safety.

          5                 This is a no brainer here. There is

          6  no reason to continue to allow our children to take

          7  the remedial course of toy guns and let them

          8  graduate and become common criminals. The only

          9  purpose a gun like this services is the first level

         10  of training of future criminals.

         11                 So, I call on the City Council to

         12  look at items line eight and nine in the current law

         13  that clearly state which imitation guns are allowed

         14  to be sold. If we merely change those two lines and

         15  do not allow toy manufacturers to sell toy guns that

         16  are shaped as real guns. Once we do that, you will

         17  not have the problem of anyone believing that an

         18  animated gun is an actual gun, and we must be clear

         19  with a full understanding, no matter how altruistic

         20  and concerned the toy manufacturers are, they are in

         21  business for a profit, and their profit sometimes is

         22  taken more seriously over the concerns of public

         23  safety, but the City Council is in business for

         24  public safety, and here is an opportunity to change

         25  a very simple law and a very simple matter to assure
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          2  that public safety will prevail.

          3                 And in closing, I call on you to

          4  reach out to the Police Commissioner. I am concerned

          5  that he is not here today or should have sent a

          6  representative. If he was aware of the hearing, if

          7  there was a late notification, I am sure one of the

          8  men and women in the upper echelon of the Police

          9  Department should have made it their business to be

         10  here and address a prestigious committee such as

         11  this on a very important issue.

         12                 I am calling on him to play a more

         13  active role in assuring that this becomes a serious

         14  matter. I would hate to believe that we are more

         15  silent and laissafaire about the issue because of

         16  who the ethnic make up of the victims are. I find it

         17  hard to believe that if the same incident takes

         18  place in a more economically sound community that we

         19  would not have a different response. And if that is

         20  the message that this Police Department is sending

         21  it is disturbing and it is troubling.

         22                 We should not lose another young

         23  adult because someone mistook a toy gun for a real

         24  gun.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I want to

          3  thank you very, very much for coming here today and

          4  of course you brought up many good points but not

          5  all too often we read in the newspapers about people

          6  going into banks and holding up banks, and people

          7  think they are real guns in handing over the money,

          8  that has happened many times in stored, robbing, you

          9  know, a lot of times 24-hour stores with the toy

         10  guns. So, I certainly agree with you, this is a very

         11  important issue, it is certainly an important issue

         12  to myself and I know my colleagues because so many

         13  of my colleagues have gone on the bill and we

         14  certainly, you know, will be working on this and

         15  hopefully at our next hearing we will have the

         16  Police Department, you know, coming in to testify

         17  and I agree with you in changing the shape of a gun

         18  certainly would help, you know, save lives, and it

         19  is shooting, whether a policeman shoots someone

         20  because they see a gun that is a toy gun and they

         21  think it is a real gun, going into a bank or robbing

         22  stores with these kind of guns certainly provokes a

         23  lot of fright in people, which also could be, you

         24  know, at times fatal also, being fatally frightened.

         25  And we will continue to work on this and I hope you
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          2  work along with us. Thank you very, very much.

          3                 I would like to call the last witness

          4  Steven Portnou.

          5                 MR. PORTNOW: Good afternoon. Thank

          6  you, Chairwoman Koslowitz and members of the

          7  Consumer Affairs Committee, for this opportunity to

          8  testify in support of Intro. 480, and I would like

          9  to say a special thanks to Manhattan Borough

         10  President C. Virginia Fields for proposing this

         11  legislation.

         12                 My name is Steven Portnou, and I am

         13  here this afternoon, not as a lobbyist, which is how

         14  you are usually used to seeing me, but as a

         15  concerned citizen.

         16                 In general I do not support bans or

         17  prohibitions, however, this legislation is not a ban

         18  or a prohibition, it is common sense.

         19                 This bill, if enacted, would serve

         20  two segments of our society, two segments that are

         21  too often seen as competing against each others'

         22  interests. This legislation would benefit both the

         23  youth of our City and our police. I cannot think of

         24  two harder jobs in this City than growing up and

         25  being a police officer.
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          2                 Tragedy can and unfortunately has

          3  occurred too many times when these competing

          4  interests interact. I wanted to state here and now

          5  that I am a supporter of our Police Department. I

          6  believe they are the finest. They put their life on

          7  the line at risk every hour of every day they are on

          8  the job. I don't think that is an overstatement.

          9                 I stopped in at the Halloween

         10  Adventure, which I believe was mentioned by

         11  Commissioner Polonetsky on my way here. Halloween

         12  Adventure was an inspiration for this legislation.

         13  They had a wall of toy guns that had to be at least

         14  five times the size of that. I was not able to buy a

         15  gun there today. They were erroneously informed,

         16  however, and they told me that these guns are now

         17  illegal. But I was not able to buy one there.

         18                 We do have these competing forces. I

         19  cannot understand why a 15-year old would be on the

         20  street at 10:00, 11:00 or 1:00, 2:00 in the morning,

         21  with a toy gun such as this. It leads me to ask

         22  where are the parents?

         23                 But the issue of parental guidance is

         24  not before us. The issue before us is can we prevent

         25  or reduce these tragedies? I believe we can.
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          2                 We must confront what can be

          3  remedied. In this case what we can do is eliminate

          4  the realism. Ensuring a toy gun cannot be mistaken

          5  for the real thing can save lives, I have no doubts

          6  on that. And this bill goes a long way to

          7  accomplishing that.

          8                 I would, however, just like to

          9  suggest at least two amendments. Firstly, I believe

         10  that the bright purple in the dark of the night

         11  might still be too dark and might look realistic. I

         12  don't think that it would be very difficult, and I

         13  not being a gun manufacturer but having some

         14  familiarity I would assume that most of these are

         15  made by a process of injection moulding. I don't

         16  think it would be that difficult to do the injection

         17  moulding with reflective materials.

         18                 Secondly, although I heard for the

         19  first time before that Toys R Us does not sell

         20  realistic-looking guns, they probably are many large

         21  toy stores, Kay Bee comes to mind and some others,

         22  and again I don't know if they do sell these, but I

         23  am not sure that 90 days would be sufficient for the

         24  small corner store to deplete their stock. I would

         25  like to urge that you extend the effective date to
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          2  perhaps 120 days.

          3                 Again, thank you for this opportunity

          4  to testify. The legislation has my support, and I

          5  would be happy to answer any questions if there are

          6  any.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 This meeting is adjourned.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 3:05 p.m.)
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